FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/22/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/22/2024 4:50 PM

Case #: 1031033

No. 84883-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

VALERIE STROUT, a single person; and KATHRYN HANEY, a single person,

Petitioners,

v.

VICKI McGEE, a single person; WAL-MART STORES, INC., a Delaware Corporation; HAIER AMERICA TRADING, LLC, a Delaware Corporation; PLY GEM PACIFIC WINDOWS CORPORATION, a Delaware Corporation, as successor to INSULATE INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Has Washington's long standing common law collateral source rule, which requires strict exclusion from evidence at trial of any payments received by an injured plaintiff from any source independent of the tortfeasor in a personal injury action, been abandoned in subsequent case law, contrary to *Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 795, 953 P.2d 800 (1998)?
- 2. Does Washington's common law collateral source rule presume that collateral source evidence is prejudicial to a personal injury plaintiff on both the issues of damages and liability?

- 3. If a trial court has concluded a personal injury plaintiff has opened the door to collateral source evidence, must the trial court consider the likely prejudicial effect on the record in regard to the issues of both liability and damages before allowing the collateral benefit evidence?
- **4.** Can a plaintiff's witness open the door to collateral source evidence while being cross examined by defense counsel?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the afternoon of July 5, 2014, around 4:00 p.m., Strout was in the southernmost upstairs bedroom of her leased home in Auburn preparing to take a nap. 1 RP 117:22-118:2. Strout approached her second story bedroom window in order to speak to her fiancé, Lang, and her two guests in the yard below. 1 RP 125:9-14. As Strout was standing at the window, she apparently noticed that a portable in-window air conditioner manufactured by, Haier, seemed unstable and appeared to be detaching from its position in the window. 1 RP 128:8-12. Strout reached for the air

conditioner to steady it and, as she did, fell out through the window. 1 RP 128:8-19. She landed upon her head on the concrete patio below. 1 RP 128:8-14.

Strout was rendered a paraplegic and suffered other serious injuries as a result of the fall. Strout sued Vicki McGee, her landlord, Haier, Walmart and another party, Ply Gem Pacific Windows Corporation ("Ply Gem"), the manufacturer of the window through which Strout fell.¹

Strout and Lang had purchased the portable air conditioner from Walmart.

The air conditioner was installed in the upstairs bedroom window for the summer months of 2014 on or about June 29, 2014. 1 RP 118:8-119:2.

(1) <u>Trial Court Procedural History - Collateral</u> Source Evidence.

¹ Ply Gem was dismissed at summary judgment. The dismissal of Ply Gem at summary judgement was upheld in Strout's first Appeal, Case No. 77235-0-1.

Before trial, Strout filed a Motion in Limine seeking to exclude evidence she had received or was entitled to receive benefits from a collateral source and evidence of "Settlement negotiations of offers of compromise." CP 28-40. The trial court reserved its ruling on the collateral source benefit issue. CP 677-686, 686-694.

The trial court, however, granted Strout's motion to exclude evidence of settlement negotiations pursuant to ER 408. CP 677-686, 686-694.

Consequentially, the trial court initially did not allow the admission of the two settlements with Haier and McGee or the amounts of settlements into evidence. 2 RP 91:7-91:11.

At trial, during cross examination of Lang, Walmart asked the trial court to readdress its order on Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine and allow Walmart to introduce evidence that Strout had received collateral source benefits from Haier and McGee in the form of two separate settlements, one from Haier and one from

McGee, each in the amount of two (2) million dollars. 2 RP 78:8-18.

The testimony described by Walmart's counsel was innocuous and had no relevance to the issues of Walmart's liability and Strout's damages.

Strout denied that the door had been opened to the settlement evidence and objected to the evidence as not relevant and unfair and unduly prejudicial.

The only testimony that Walmart cited to in its Brief of Respondent filed in Division I in support of their claim that Strout had "opened the door" to collateral source evidence consists of a few sentences from the direct examination of Strout and Lang concerning Strout's financial situation before the two settlements were achieved. (*See:* Walmart's Brief of Respondent, pp. 11-12.)

The pages cited by Walmart are: 3 RP 38 (Strout direct testimony); 1 RP 176 (Lang direct testimony); 1 RP 144-45 (Lang direct testimony); and 1 RP 178-79 (Lang direct testimony). (See:

Walmart's Brief of Respondent, pp. 10-11.)

Walmart's first citation made in support of their "opening the door" argument is found at 3 RP 38 and is cited in their response brief in the Court of Appeals at page 10.

That first citation occurred during Strout's direct testimony and specifically referred to the time period after the injury on July 5, 2014, but before the settlements were achieved in 2017. Strout pinpointed that time period as the time period when "the Seahawks lost the Super Bowl," which occurred in early 2015, a few months after her injury. 3 RP 38.

In fact, Strout's testimony only establishes that Strout was in a dire financial situation immediately after her injury and before the settlements were achieved in 2017. McGee settlements because Strout or Lang never claimed ongoing financial hardship after the settlements were achieved.

The citation to Lang's testimony at 1 RP 176 is simply Lang's explanation for why the choice was made for him to care

for Strout himself during the time period after the settlements were received rather than rely upon hired caregivers. Lang stated that he chose not to continue working because it cost more than he made at his job to pay for the cost of Strout's care by a caregiver while he was working. 1 RP 176.

Lang also gave an additional reason for his taking care of Strout, which was the unreliability of the caregivers they had been using while he had previously attempted to work.

The citation by Walmart to Lang's testimony at 1 RP 144-145 clearly shows Lang was speaking of the time period immediately after Strout's discharge from Harborview Medical Center after her fall.

Lang indicated in the testimony at 1 RP 178-179 that he needed to care for Strout and could not work while the trial was proceeding and "until this thing gets done with" which clearly meant the trial at which he was testifying.

The trial court initially denied Walmart's motion to admit

the settlement evidence and ruled the settlement evidence inadmissible. 2 RP 91.

Nonetheless, the trial court then allowed additional testimony. 2 RP 90:19-91:11.

The trial court spent a lengthy time hearing several separate arguments during the testimony of Lang from counsel on whether the two settlements would be admissible. 2 RP 78-106.

The trial court allowed Walmart's counsel to cross-examine Lang further about the costs of caregivers at the time of trial. 2 RP 106-109. The trial court then allowed the evidence of the two settlements. 2 RP 109-116.

The trial court justified its ruling by stating that Strout and Lang had testified that they had been destitute and had financial struggles after Strout was paralyzed. 2 RP 90:19-11.

Neither the trial court nor Walmart addressed on the record why or how this testimony had any relevance.

When testimony recommenced, Lang stated he started

taking care of Strout full time in 2017. 2 RP 97:7-98:5.

Lang explained during his testimony that he chose not to work then because he could not make enough money from his job to offset the cost of in-home care that would be necessary for Strout while he worked. 2 RP 92:716, 2 RP 97:7-98:1, 1 RP 175:24-176:14.

Lang was also asked at trial by Walmart's counsel why he was not working at the time of trial in the form of a leading question suggesting Lang was not working for a financial reason.

2 RP 98:21-99:17.

Lang later explained he was not working at the time of trial because he needed to attend the trial in the present case. 1 RP 178:13-179:6.

Lang denied that Strout could not afford to hire caregivers after the settlement or that he had so said in his prior testimony. 2 RP 100:5-23.

Walmart then asked the trial court to allow additional

collateral source related evidence to be introduced through Lang, which the trial court allowed. 2 RP 100:24-104:18, 2 RP 106:2.

The evidence of the two settlement amounts totaling four million dollars to come into evidence through Lang's testimony on cross-examination. 2 RP 109:8-176:19, 2, RP 116:25-118:21.

The trial court grounded its ruling allowing the collateral source evidence of Strout's settlements on Lang's testimony during trial when Walmart's counsel at trial accused Lang of testifying that Strout and Lang could not afford to hire a private in-home caregiver because of the cost. 2 RP 90:19-91:11. Lang denied Walmart's claim and again explained his testimony later on the issue. 2 RP 122:21-123:2.

Lang denied that their household had limited funds currently. 2 RP 123:4-8.

None of the testimony upon which the trial court relied upon in its ruling allowing the collateral source evidence had any relevance to the issues of liability or damages. Nonetheless, the collateral source evidence was allowed to go to the jury, very likely prejudicing the jury and unduly influencing their verdict on the liability issue.

The Court of Appeals' approval of the trial court's admission of the collateral settlements evidence was reversible error because the record does not establish any of the collateral source evidence was relevant and/or any slight relevance that the collateral source evidence may have had on the issues of liability and damages was outweighed by its likelihood it would engender and likely would unduly influence and prejudice the jury affecting the liability determination by the jury.

E. <u>ARGUMENT: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>GRANTED.</u>

(1) The Collateral Source Rule.

The collateral source rule is a long standing common law doctrine recognized in Washington that forbids the introduction into evidence of any collateral benefits, i.e., benefits received by

the plaintiff from any person or entity other than the defendant, such as an insurance company, unemployment benefits or compensation to plaintiffs received from defendants or other third parties who have settled. Wash. Prac., Vol. 16, § 6.38, Tort Law and Practice (Fifth Ed. 2020-2021). The reasoning behind the collateral source rule is evidence of such collateral benefits is likely to affect a jury's determination on liability or to limit any recovery the plaintiff may make resulting in an unfair advantage to the defendant. *Eichel v. New York Central R.R. Co.*, 375 U.S. 253, 84 S. Ct. 316, 11 L. Ed. 2d 307 (1963). Wash. Prac., Vol. 16, § 6.38, Tort Law and Practice (Fifth Ed. 2020-2021).

Collateral source evidence has been described as likely to result in a windfall for the defendant on both the issue of liability and damages. *Cox v. Spangler*, 141 Wn.2d 431, 439-440, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000). The collateral source rule is intended to preclude fact finder prejudice and misuse of collateral source evidence on both the issue of liability and damages. *Tipton v. Socony Mobil*

Oil Co., 375 U.S. 34 (1963), 845 S.Ct. 1, 11 L.Ed.2d 4. Johnson, 134 Wn.2d 795.

ER 402, ER 403 and ER 408 have also been cited by Washington Courts as grounds for excluding collateral source evidence at trial. *Northington v. Sivo*, 102 Wn. App. 545, 550, 8 P.3d 1067 (2000).

The 1986 enactment of RCW 4.22.070 has rendered irrelevant in most cases the amount paid by a settling defendant. ER 402. *Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 285 P.3d 873 (Wash. 2012), see also *Knapp v. Hoerner*, 22 Wn. App. 925, 930, 591 P.2d 1276 (Wash. 1979). ER 408.

(2) <u>Division I's Opinion Creates Conflict with</u> <u>Established Precedent.</u>

The Court of Appeals holding conflicts with this Court's Opinion in *Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 134 Wn. 2d 795, 953 P.2d 800 (1998), *Cox v. Spangler*, 141 Wn.2d 431, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000), *Gilmore v. Jefferson County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area*,

190 Wn.2d 483 (Wash. 2018), and Division III's opinion in *Cox* v. *Lewiston Grain Growers, Inc.*, 86 Wn. App. 357, 936 P.2d 1191 (1997).

Johnson, supra, held that the collateral source rule requires strict exclusion of collateral source benefits received by a plaintiff from third parties. In fact, as noted in Judge Sanders' dissent, the majority holding in Johnson, Id., "imposes a blanket rule excluding such evidence," even if its probative value outweighs any prejudicial effect. Johnson, 134 Wn.2d 795, 805. The court further indicated, however, that plaintiff could waive the protection of the collateral source rule by opening the door to evidence of collateral benefits while ruling that the plaintiff in that case had not opened the door.

Division I's opinion also conflicts with the decision in *Eichel v. New York Central R.R. Co.*, 375 U.S. 253, 84 S. Ct. 316, 11 L. Ed. 2d 307 (1963), which was cited in *Johnson*, *supra*.

In Eichel, supra, the court noted the likelihood that the

collateral source evidence would likely prejudice the jury against the plaintiffs and would unduly influence the jury.

Eichel, supra, stated the likely prejudicial effect of collateral source evidence cannot be restricted to the issue of damages. The prejudicial effect extends to the issue of liability. Eichel, supra, citing Tipton, supra, 375 U.S. at 255.

Washington authority does not restrict the issue of collateral source evidence rule to damages. *Johnson, supra*.

(3) Strout Did Not Waive the Collateral Source Rule.

In order to waive the collateral source rule, the plaintiff must ordinarily present testimony regarding the collateral benefits received. In order to waive the collateral source rule, the defendant cannot introduce testimony about collateral source benefits to open the door through plaintiff's witnesses. *Johnson, supra*, 134 Wn.2d at 804. Strout never testified as to her receipt of the two settlements, nor did Lang until the trial court allowed Walmart's counsel to question him on the two settlements Strout

received. Walmart's introduction of such evidence to establish that a plaintiff is "malingering" or that the that the defendant is not liable cannot establish that the plaintiff has waived the collateral source rule. *Johnson, supra*, at 804. Testimony procured by Walmart on cross-examination provided the testimony upon which the trial court based its decision allowing the collateral source evidence. The Court of Appeals committed reversible error by so doing.

Beyond the mention in *Johnson*, *supra*, of the issue of a plaintiff's possible "malingering," there are no clear standards or guidelines provided in any reported Washington case regarding what evidence offered by a plaintiff opens the door to collateral source benefit evidence.

In other reported cases, including *Johnson*, *supra*, such as *Cox v. Spangler*, *supra*, *Gilmore*, *supra*, and *Cox v. Lewiston Grain Growers*, *Inc.*, *supra*, the disputed collateral source evidence was determined to be inadmissible.

Review of Division I's opinion in this case is necessary to provide guidance to litigants as to the current extent of Washington's common law collateral source rule, as well as the standards and guidelines to utilize in determining whether a party has waived the protection of the collateral source rule.

(4) Standard of Review of Trial Court Decision.

An Appellate Court reviews a trial court's ruling regarding the admission of collateral source evidence for an abuse of discretion. *Gilmore v. Jefferson County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area*, 190 Wn.2d 483, 498, 415 P.3d 212 (Wash. 2018).

A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds. *Kreidler v. Cascade Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 179 Wn. App. 851, 321 P.3d 281 (2014). A decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices given the facts and the legal standard. It is based on untenable grounds if the facts do not meet the required standard. *Kreidler*, *Id*.

(5) <u>Collateral Source Evidence Is Generally Strictly</u> **Excluded from Evidence.**

The Court of Appeals Erred by Sanctioning the Trial Court's Introduction of Evidence of Strout's Settlements Made with Haier and McGee.

It has generally been held that evidence of collateral source payments or income should be strictly excluded from evidence. *Gilmore, supra*, 190 Wn.2d 483, 498-499. *See* also *Boeke v. Int'l Paint Co.*, 27 Wn. App. 611, 618, 620 P.2d 103 (1980). *Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 795, 953 P.2d 800 (1998).

"[C]ourts generally exclude evidence that the plaintiff has received compensation from a third party for an injury for which the defendant has liability. The rule is designed to prevent the wrongdoer from benefitting from third party payments." *Cox v. Spangler*, 141 Wn.2d 431, 439, 5 P.3d 1265, 620 P.3d 103 (2000) citing *Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 795, 798, 953 P.2d 800 (1998).

The Courts Below Never Considered the Issue of

The Likelihood of Prejudice, Undue Influence

and Misuse of the Collateral Evidence by the

Jury.

Neither the trial court nor Division I engaged in the process of balancing the relevance, if any, of the two settlements against the likelihood that such evidence could cause prejudice and unduly influence to the jury against Strout.

A balancing test is required when a court weighs the issue of admitting collateral benefit evidence. *Cox v. Spangler supra, Gilmore v. Jefferson County, supra.*

Neither Walmart nor the trial court, or Division I, have ever explained how the settlement evidence that was allowed at trial had any relevance to the issues before the trial court. The record demonstrates that the trial court failed to consider the issues of relevance and undue prejudice prior to allowing admission of the settlement evidence.

The trial court's verdict and its ruling allowing the collateral source settlement testimony should be reversed for failing to consider the issues of relevance and undue prejudice prior to admitting the evidence. *Burnett v. Whitewater Creek, Inc.*, 24 Wn. App. 2d, 728, 521 P.3d 236 (2022).

(7) <u>Collateral Evidence is Assumed Prejudicial to</u> Plaintiff.

The facts and circumstances of Strout's settlements with Haier and McGee are assumed to be prejudicial on both the issue of liability and damages. *Tipton, supra. See* also *Johnson, supra,* 134 Wn.2d at 795-803. In *Johnson, supra,* the jury did not determine the plaintiff's damages. It only determined liability. *Johnson, supra,* 134 Wn.2d at 800.

Even if a plaintiff cannot be awarded monetary damages by a jury, as in *Johnson, supra*, the risk of misuse by a jury is still present and can influence a juries decision regarding liability. *Johnson, supra*. The admission into evidence of Strout's previous

settlements denied Strout a fair trial.

The collateral source rule, by ordinarily requiring strict exclusion of collateral source evidence, itself, by its existence, demonstrates that collateral source evidence is presumed to prejudicial and likely to be misused by a fact finder.

(8) A Court Should Not Grant a Defendant a Windfall by Admitting Collateral Evidence.

Where a windfall by one party is unavoidable, it is preferable that the injured party receive the fortuitous benefit. Wash. Prac., Vol. 16, § 6:38, Tort Law and Practice (Fifth Ed. 2020-2021). *See* also *Cox v. Lewiston Grain Growers, Inc.,* 86 Wn. App. 357, 936 P.2d 1191 (Div. III, 1997), *Cox v. Spangler,* 141. Wn.2d 431, 5P.3d 1285, 431.

The trial court in the present case either misunderstood and/or mischaracterized Lang's testimony in justifying the admission of the collateral source evidence.

Lang or Strout did not "open the door" to the evidence of

the two settlements Strout made with Haier and McGee. It is difficult to conceive how Lang's testimony "opened the door" to testimony about Strout receiving two settlements totaling \$4,000,000,000 from two dismissed defendants.

(9) Walmart "Opened the Door" Not Strout, If the Door Was Opened.

The trial court's ruling allowing into evidence the evidence of Strout's settlements with Haier and McGee was made after Walmart's counsel during cross-examination asked Lang why Lang was no longer working. *Johnson, supra*, 134 Wn.2d at 802, pointed out a defendant cannot eliminate the collateral source rule by itself admitting collateral evidence:

That a claimant chooses not to invoke the protections of the rule does not require the conclusion that the defendant is entitled to eliminate the rule for his or her [***14] purposes. *Ciminski*, 90 Wash. 2d at 806-07 ("[T]he real question is not whether there is a windfall, but rather who is to get it. As between an injured plaintiff and a defendant, we have no hesitation in saying that the former is entitled to prevail."). *Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*,

134 Wn.2d 795, 802, 953 P.2d 800, 804, 1998 Wash. LEXIS 207, *13-14 (Wash. April 2, 1998).

The collateral source rule would be worthless if a party other than the plaintiff can "open the door" to collateral source evidence during cross-examination thus allowing defendant to avoid imposition of the collateral source rule by admitting evidence itself of the collateral source.

(10) The Court of Appeals Erred in Concluding Strout Provided an Inadequate Record for Review.

The collateral source rule is considered part of the law of torts, not evidence. Wash. Prac., Vol. 5A, § 6:37, (Sixth Ed. 2016).

The collateral source rule is premised on the likelihood and presumption that collateral source evidence is likely to prejudice and unduly influence a fact finder against the plaintiff in a personal injury case.

The Supreme Court in *Johnson*, *supra*, *Cox v. Spangler*, *supra*, *Gilmore*, *supra*, *and Cox v. Lewiston Grain Growers*, *Inc.*, *supra*, did not focus on the entire record. These reported cases all focused on the actual evidence sought to be introduced into evidence before its introduction was denied or allowed. They did not examine the record after the exclusion or admission of the evidence of prejudice or unfairness to either party. These reported cases focused on the disputed collateral benefit evidence as it was sought to be admitted and whether at that time the collateral benefit evidence was admissible and for what reasons.

The record produced by Strout contains the trial court's deliberations and reasoning in making the decision to admit the settlement evidence. The record produced by Strout contains the totality of the evidence that was disputed at trial and provided the testimony of Strout and Lang upon when the court ruled upon in admission the collateral source evidence.

The Court of Appeals was provided with an adequate

record for review.

(11) The Collateral Source Evidence of Strout's Prior Settlement Was Unfairly Prejudicial.

Even if collateral source evidence is relevant, in order to be admissible, such relevance must not be outweighed by unfair prejudice. *Cox v. Spangler*, 141 Wn.2d 431, 5 P.3d 1285, 431, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000). *See* also *Gilmore v. Jefferson County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area*, 190 Wn.2d 483, 498, 415 P.3d 212 (Wash. 2018).

In the present case, the trial court never considered the likely and presumed prejudice to Strout and likely undue influence on the jury upon the admission of the settlement evidence. Nor did the Court of Appeals. Any fair weighing of the risk of unfair prejudice and undue influence by any reasonable court would lead to the exclusion of the evidence of Strout's two settlements of two million dollars each.

A fact finder would likely conclude that the two prior

settlements were paid because the two settling defendants believed they would likely be found liable by a jury. Such a conclusion could obviously lead a jury to conclude Strout had been paid by the parties fully or primarily liable substantially lessening the likelihood of a finding of liability by Walmart.

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