FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/21/2024 3:40 PM

No. 84883-6-I

Case #: 1031033

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

VALERIE STROUT, a single person; and KATHERYN HANEY, a single person,

Appellants,

v.

VICKI McGEE, a single person; WAL-MART STORES, INC., a Delaware Corporation; PLY GEM PACIFIC WINDOWS CORPORATION, a Delaware Corporation, as successor to INSULATE INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

II. ISSUES
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
IV. ARGUMENT
A. STROUT'S PETITION DOES NOT ESTABLISH GROUNDS FOR REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B)
1. There Is No Conflict With A Decision Of The Supreme Court, Or With A Published Decision Of The Court Of Appeals
2. Strout Does Not State Or Claim A Significant Question of Law Under The Constitution Of The State Of Washington Or Of The United States
3. The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest
V. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE CASES PAGE(S) Cox v. Lewiston Grain Growers, Inc., Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wash. 2d. 431 (2000)...... 4, 6-7 Gilmore v. Jefferson County Pub. Transp. Benefit Area, 190 Wash. 2d 483 (2018)......4, 7-8 Grant Cntv. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wash. 2d 791, 801 (2004)..... 10 Johnson v. Weverhaeuser Co., State v. Watson, 155 Wash. 2d 574 (2005)9 **RULES**

I. <u>INTRODUCTION¹</u>

Petitioners VALERIE STROUT and KATHERINE HANEY (collectively, "Strout") seek review of the unpublished decision of the Division I Court of Appeals of The State of Washington in *Strout v. McGee et al*, No. 84833-I, *available at* 2024 WL 1718813 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024) [hereinafter *Strout v. McGee*], affirming a jury verdict in favor of Respondent WALMART INC. (identified in the operative Complaint and decisions as Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.) ("Walmart"), and holding that Strout failed to establish entitlement to appellate relief.

Insofar as Strout now also fails to establish grounds for review by the Washington Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b), or raise any certification-worthy issue, Walmart asks that the Court deny Strout's Petition for Review.

¹ This section contains the identity of petitioner as well as a citation to the Court of Appeals decision, consistent with RAP 13.4(c)(2)-(3). All other sections/headings are expressly marked and in accordance with RAP 13.4(c).

II. ISSUES

Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming a jury verdict in favor of Walmart "creates conflict with established precedent" as claimed by Strout, or involves a matter of "substantial" public interest, so as to establish grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b). *See* Pet. at 30 (seeking to establish grounds for review).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 22, 2022, following a three-week jury trial of Strout's claims for negligence and related causes of action against Walmart and others, a Pierce County jury deliberated for less than an hour, finding Walmart not liable on any of the claims asserted by Strout. The Court entered Judgment on the verdict on December 13, 2022, whereafter Strout filed a Notice of Appeal on January 11, 2023, assigning error to the trial court's admission of collateral source evidence in the form of testimony from Strout's witness about two multi-million dollar settlements Strout received from former defendants in the case.

On April 22, 2024, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued its decision concerning Strout's assignments of error, affirming the jury verdict in favor of Walmart and finding that Strout did not establish any entitlement to appellate relief. *Strout v. McGee*, No. 84883-6-I (Wash. Ct. App. 2024).

Strout thereafter proceeded to file a Petition for Review on May 22, 2024, which Walmart now answers as follows.

IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>Strout's Petition Does Not Establish Grounds For Review</u> <u>Under RAP 13.4(b)</u>

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United State is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Rap 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

1. <u>There Is No Conflict With A Decision Of The</u> <u>Supreme Court, Or With A Published Decision Of The</u> <u>Court Of Appeals.</u>

Strout argues that the Court of Appeals' Opinion in Strout

v. McGee is in conflict with four decisions specifically: (1)

Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 134 Wash. 2d 795 (1998); (2)

Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wash. 2d. 431 (2000) [hereinafter

*Spangler*²]; (3) *Gilmore v. Jefferson County Pub. Transp.*

Benefit Area, 190 Wash. 2d 483 (2018); and (4) Cox v. Lewiston

Grain Growers, Inc., 86 Wash. App. 357 (1997) [hereinafter

Lewiston]. Strout purports to make this argument beginning on

Page 17 of her Petition according to the Table of Contents;

however, in this section, the only case that she explicates to

attempt to demonstrate a conflict of authority is Johnson, but

² Defined in this manner on account of Strout relying on two cases involving plaintiffs with the last name "Cox."

the language she cites from that case reveals no such conflict. On the contrary, the language Strout cites tends only to show that Johnson is in full agreement with the decision Strout is asking this Court to review, in holding that a plaintiff can "waive the protection of the collateral source rule by opening the door to evidence of collateral benefits...." Pet. At 18 (emphasis added); see also Johnson, 134 Wash .2d at 805. This is precisely what the trial court determined happened in this case—that Plaintiff waived the protection of the collateral source rule thereby opening the door to evidence of collateral benefits, by offering testimony from a witness suggesting that she was destitute notwithstanding receipt of millions of dollars in settlement proceeds. There is no conflict with Johnson.

Looking at the other supposedly conflicting cases, Strout argues in several places in conclusory fashion that "Division I's opinion is in conflict" with these authorities"³—most-all of

³ See, e.g., Pet. At 4, 17, 18.

which rely on, and cite to, *Johnson*—but *Strout* never actually demonstrates any conflict or disagreement. Ultimately, it seems like Strout is suggesting that these cases are in conflict simply because the Court may have reached a different decision regarding the admissibility of collateral source evidence⁴; however, <u>the fact that the Court in those cases reached a</u> <u>different conclusion on different facts, and on a different record,</u> <u>does not constitute a conflict within the meaning of RAP</u> <u>13.4(b). Looking at the authority relied upon in the cases and</u>

not just the results, it is clear that there is no conflict or disagreement.

For instance, looking first at *Spangler* from among the remaining, supposedly conflicting cases, this Court acknowledged (en banc) in that case that collateral source evidence is "usually" or "generally" excluded⁵; however, the

⁴ See Pet. at 20 ("In other reported cases...collateral source evidence was determined to be inadmissible.").

⁵ This language in and of itself implicitly allows for admission of collateral source evidence in a more "<u>un</u>usual" case.

mere fact that the Court was considering admissibility at all vitiates Strout's argument that *Spangler* is in conflict. 141 Wash. 2d at 440-41. <u>Indeed, considering whether collateral</u> <u>source evidence "should have been admitted," and even</u> <u>expressly acknowledging that such evidence "may well be</u> <u>relevant for a variety of purposes," stands only to **affirm** the <u>proposition on which Walmart prevailed on appeal, that</u> <u>collateral source evidence is, or can be, admissible where the</u> <u>protection of the collateral source rule is "waived," such as</u> <u>where a plaintiff opens the door.</u></u>

Turning next to *Gilmore*, that is a case where this Court again (en banc) cited *Johnson* to stand for the proposition that while "generally...evidence of collateral source income should be strictly excluded[,]" "a plaintiff may '**waive** the protections of the collateral source rule by opening the door to evidence of collateral benefits."⁶ *Gilmore*, 190 Wash. 2d at 499 (quoting

⁶ Of course, this is the precise rule or principle Walmart cited to *supra* page 8 in making the point that prevailing authorities like *Johnson* are "in full agreement" with the decision and reasoning of the Court of Appeals in *Strout v. McGee*.

Johnson, 134 Was. 2d at 804) (emphasis added). The *Gilmore* Court noted that "the trier of fact is free to determine whether the door has been opened," and that such a determination would not be reversed absent abuse of discretion. *Gilmore*, 190 Wash. 2d at 499.⁷ Like the other cases Strout cites to, *Gilmore* is in full agreement with Division I's decision in *Strout v. McGee* in holding that collateral source evidence can be admitted when the door has been opened. Again, the fact that the *Gilmore* Court reached a different conclusion concerning admissibility, ultimately, is not a conflict under RAP 13.4(b).

Turning last to *Lewiston*, that case does not actually deal with the "waiver" or opening-the-door issue; therefore, this case also does not demonstrate any conflict of authority, and is actually not relevant to the issues before the Court. In *Lewiston*, the Court of Appeals did speak generally about the "design" (read: purpose) of the collateral source rule, but

⁷ The issue of whether or not admission of collateral source evidence in the *Strout* matter constituted an abuse of discretion was resolved in the Court of Appeals. In affirming, the Court of Appeals held that there was no such abuse. Strout's disagreement or dissatisfaction with that result is not grounds for review.

importantly for purposes of this Petition the Court did not make any holdings that would suggest that one *cannot* waive the protection of this rule and/or open the door to admission of such evidence; ergo, here again there is no conflict of authority.

2. <u>Strout Does Not State Or Claim A Significant</u> <u>Question of Law Under The Constitution Of The State</u> <u>Of Washington Or Of The United States</u>

The next consideration possibly warranting review, after conflicts, asks whether there is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State or Washington or of the United States. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Strout does not make such a claim,⁸ and there is not otherwise any such question raised in her Petition; therefore, there are no grounds for review under this provision of RAP 13.4.

3. <u>The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue Of</u> <u>Substantial Public Interest</u>

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), a petition that involve an issue of "substantial" public interest that should be determined by the

⁸ Accord Pet. at 30 (arguing that review and reversal is warranted pursuant to Rap 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4), but not (b)(4) (constitutional question).

Supreme Court may be reviewable. *See, e.g., State v. Watson*, 155 Wash. 2d 574 (2005) (presenting "a prime example" of an issue of substantial public interest, because the case "[had] the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County" beyond a certain date); *see also Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wash. 2d 791, 801 (2004) (describing an issue of substantial public interest or importance as one that "immediately affects significant segments of the population," or that "has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture").

In a very brief argument section just before the conclusion of her Petition, Strout argues that "[r]eview is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(5) [the public interest factor] because Division I's opinion conflicts with the underlying premises of the collateral source rule...." Insofar as Strout argues that the public interest is aroused *due to a conflict*, this argument fails at a threshold level, because again there is no conflict as described *supra*. Nothing about the Court of

-10-

Appeals decision disturbs the protection to plaintiffs afforded under the collateral source rule. And ultimately, the fact that Strout, uniquely, waived the protection afforded to her based on the manner in which she presented her case, as now memorialized in an (unpublished) decision of the Court of Appeals, is not of interest to the public.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

RAP 13.4(b) is expressly-very limited in its scope of allowable review, providing that "only" four types of issues will qualify. Strout has not established her Petition falls within any of those four categories. For these reasons, the Court should deny Strout's Petition for Review.

//

|| || || || Respectfully submitted on June 21, 2024.

/s/ Eddy Silverman

Eddy Silverman, WSBA # 53494 Rodney L. Umberger, WSBA # 24948 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 628-6600 Email: <u>esilverman@williamskastner.com</u>, and <u>rumberger@williamskastner.com</u>

Attorneys for Respondent Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

I certify that the foregoing contains <u>1630</u> words in compliance with RAP 18.17 (excluding Appendices; Title Sheet/Caption; Tables of Contents/Authorities; Certificates of Compliance/Service; Signature Blocks; and Pictorial Images/Exhibits), as calculated by the word processing software used to prepare this document.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury that under the laws of the State of Washington that on June 21, 2024, I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing document, Respondent's Answer for Petition to Review to be served via the Appellate

Court Web Portal to:

Douglas R. Cloud Law Office of Douglas R. Cloud 1008 Yakima Avenue, Suite 202 Tacoma, WA 98405-4850 (253) 627-1505 drc@dcloudlaw.com Attorney for Appellants ☑ Via COA E-filing Portal

DATED this 21st day of June, 2024 at Seattle, Washington.

<u>/s/ Alison Roberts</u> Alison Roberts, Legal Assistant